#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO.: SC07-2008** 

MICHAEL JAMES JACKSON,	
Appellant,	
vs.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee/	
APPELLANT'S INITIAL BR	IEF

On direct review from a decision of the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit imposing a sentence of death

RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

**

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

After a jury trial the defendant was convicted of two counts of first degree murder in violation of Fla. Stat. § 782.04(1)(a), two counts of robbery in violation of Fla. Stat. § 812.13(2), and two counts of kidnapping in violation of Fla. Stat. § 787.01(1)(a)(2) & (1)(a)(3) [R. 228]. The defendant was sentenced to death for the murders, 15 years for the robberies and life imprisonment for the kidnappings, to run concurrently with one another [R. 231-236].

On July 6, 2005, Reggie and Carol Sumner were killed. The defendant and Bruce Kent Nixon, Jr., Tiffany Ann Cole, and Alan Lyndell Wade were the alleged killers. Mr. Nixon plead guilty. The defendant was tried first and convicted. Then Cole and Wade were tried and also sentenced to death. Their appeals are also pending with this court (SC08-528; SC08-573).

#### MOTION TO SUPPRESS

The defense filed a motion to suppress. The suppression hearing was held on May 1, 2007. Tr. 384-408. No testimony was taken as the facts were not in dispute. The law was in dispute.

The defense argued that when members of South Carolina law enforcement obtained a warrant to search the hotel room that the defendant and his girlfriend Tiffany Cole were staying in, the warrant did not include authority to open and search the locked safe within the hotel room [R. 90-92].

The property found in the safe was the Sumners' identification, credit cards, and very important papers. Tr. 384. The safe was locked and law enforcement obtained the code to open it from the hotel management. The warrant does not mention a safe. Tr. 387-88.

The defense argued that you have a reasonable expectation of privacy in your hotel room and there was no consent from anybody in the room to open the safe. Tr. 389, 391. The trial court ruled that the search of the safe was covered by the warrant. Tr. 395-97; 406-07.

The defense also argued that after the defendant was arrested and taken to the county jail in Charleston, he placed a number of telephone calls from the jail. The conversations were recorded, and the recordings were subsequently handed over to the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office [R. 92].

The defense argued that in order to legally and properly obtain those recordings from the jail, and then listen to them, members of law enforcement must obtain a warrant in conformity with South Carolina law and Charleston County jail

policy. This was confirmed by Detective James Rowan of the North Charleston Police Department during his deposition on January 18, 2006, page 60-61. No warrant was ever obtained for the recordings [R. 92].

As to whether Jacksonville Sheriff's Office needed a warrant, the State argued that Detective Rowan's belief about South Carolina law is not controlling. The State argued that no warrant was required. Tr. 397-399.

The trial court asked for the South Carolina statute and the defense stated that it was going by Detective Rowan's own admission. Tr. 399. The trial court stated that he was hesitant to make legal decisions based upon the testimony of police officers, so if you have some authority the court will be glad to review it. Tr. 405. None was provided. The trial court then denied the motion to suppress. Tr. 407.

#### **MOTIONS IN LIMINE**

The defense filed several motions in limine. The hearing was held on April 24, 2007. In motion in limine #2, the defense argued that the State was going to introduce evidence that the defendant offered to pay his cellmate to exchange wristbands with him and help him escape. The defense argued that this evidence was not relevant, and if the Court finds that it is, the probative value of this

evidence was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect, in violation of Fla. Stat. § 90.403. The trial court denied the motion [R. 84; 393-94].

In motion in limine #4, the defense argued that the State was going to introduce recordings of interviews the defendant had with law enforcement. In those interviews police made reference to statements that co-defendant Tiffany Cole made. The defense is not able to cross-examine Tiffany Cole, and therefore the State should reduct these references from the recordings [R. 88].

The police told the defendant that Tiffany Cole made numerous inculpatory statements about him. The defense cannot cross-examine Cole to determine whether in fact she did make those statements. The jury is left with the impression that Cole did in fact make the statements, when it could have been a mere tactic made up by police in order to get the defendant to confess [R. 398-419]. The trial court denied the motion [R. 433-434].

#### TRIAL

In a side bar meeting with defense counsel and the defendant only, the defense said that their theory of the case was that the defendant participated in and committed the robberies, but that the subsequent kidnappings and murder were the independent and unforseen acts of the co-defendants. The defendant agreed with

this strategy. Tr. 415-416. Defense counsel made this argument to the jury. Tr. 467, 470.

Rhonda Alford, the daughter of Reggie and Carol Sumner, testified that her mother was 60 years-old and her step-father was 62 years-old. Tr. 477. They were of poor health. Tr. 480-482. The Sumners lived in South Carolina prior to moving to Jacksonville. Tr. 477. Tiffany Cole has family members that used to live near the Sumners in South Carolina. Tr. 478.

Alford last heard from her parents on July 5<sup>th</sup>, and reported them missing on July 10<sup>th</sup>. Tr. 485-86. On July 11<sup>th</sup>, Alford and law enforcement entered the home and the Sumners were missing. Tr. 486-87.

Officer Videll Williams of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office testified that on July 10<sup>th</sup>, he saw the Sumner's Blue Lincoln Towncar in Sanderson, Florida. Tr. 508-510. Williams reported this on July 12<sup>th</sup>. Tr. 528.

Detective David Meacham learned that starting on the morning of July 9<sup>th</sup>, there was a lot of activity of the Sumner's ATM card. The frequent withdrawals occurred every day through July 13<sup>th</sup>. Tr. 522. Photos were obtained from the ATM machines and the defendant was making the withdrawals. Tr. 523. The defendant never tried to hide his appearance. Tr. 571.

In some of the pictures a photo of a Mazda RX-8 was taken and this car had been rented from Triange Rent A Car in South Carolina by Tiffany Cole, one of the co-defendants. Tr. 526, 567. The GPS on the rental car tracked the car as being in Jacksonville during the pertinent time frame. Tr. 567. The rental car company tracked an incoming phone call as being from the cell phone of David Jackson. Tr. 568.

It was subsequently learned that the defendant had been calling the police identifying himself as James Sumner. Tr. 529. These calls were recorded and played to the jury. Tr. 532-51. The defendant, purporting to be James Sumner, said that he was out of town and that he was having problems with his ATM card. A female voice also got on the phone and pretended to be Carol Sumner. Tr. 549. Meacham never believed that he was talking to the Sumners. Tr. 564. The defendant and Cole were eventually arrested in Charleston, South Carolina. Tr. 570.

U.S. Marshal David Alred testified that he tracked the cell phone that was used to Nextel. Tr. 578. The cell phone was registered to David Jackson in Charleston, South Carolina. Tr. 584. The defendant also went by this name. Cell phone towers tracked the phone to the area near the scene of the crime when the crime was alleged to have occurred. Tr. 584-594. A neighbor witnessed a car with

South Carolina plates near the Sumners' residence on multiple occasions a few days before the crime was committed. Tr. 617-21.

Evidence technician C.L. Conn testified that he helped recover the two bodies from the grave sight, which was in Charlton County, Georgia, about four miles north of the Florida-Georgia line. Tr. 636-640, 648. He also helped recover numerous items of evidence from the Sumner's car found in Sanderson, Florida. Tr. 652-655. The defendant's fingerprints were found on an unopened roll of clear plastic wrap that was found in the car. Tr. 901.

Conn also discovered items of mail addressed to the Sumners in the Mazda RX-8 vehicle. Tr. 657. Conn took possession of the items of evidence seized by the South Carolina authorities in the hotel rooms in Charleston. Tr. 661-663.

James Rowan, a detective for the North Charleston Police Department in South Carolina tracked down Tiffany Cole based upon the ATM photos of the Mazda RX-8 rental car. Tr. 685. Rowan was led to a hotel room in the Charleston area. Tr. 687. Two rooms had been rented in the name of Tiffany Cole and law enforcement found the defendant, Cole and Wade in the rooms. An ATM card was found in the defendant's pocket, belonging to the same bank as the Sumners'. There was no name on the card. Tr. 688-89.

In the room occupied by the defendant and Cole, law enforcement searched the locked safe after getting a search warrant and the code from management and discovered personal effects that had the Sumner's name on them, including their credit cards and checkbook. Tr. 692-94.

Detective Robert Mark Gupton testified that he interviewed the defendant while he was in custody in South Carolina. He first read the defendant his Miranda rights. Tr. 709-713, 728-729. The defendant said his full name was David Anthony Jackson. He said he used the name Michael as a street name and that his codefendants knew him as Michael. Tr. 715, 732.

A recording of the conversation was played to the jury. The defendant said that he could tell the police where the two people were. Tr. 749-750. He said that he was with his girlfriend, Tiffany Cole, and that Wade and Nixon were the ones who kidnapped and buried the Sumners. Tr. 753-762, 774-776, 984.

The defendant said that the ATM card he had belonged to Wade's mother, and that Wade allowed him to make the withdrawals because his mother would not know his face. There was no name on the card. Tr. 762-766. All four of them drove out to the grave sight in a Mazda to see where Wade and Nixon had buried the bodies. Tr. 777-778. Wade and Nixon said that they were buried alive. Tr. 788.

The defendant offered to take a polygraph and to wear a wire in order to get Wade and Nixon to admit to all of this. Tr. 791-792, 795. The defendant said that he is only guilty of using the ATM card. Tr. 794, 1000. The defendant said he never called the sheriff's office pretending to be the Sumners. Tr. 866.

The defendant said he had an alibis, and that he was with Jill Kesinger. Tr. 1060-1061. Ms. Kesinger initially said she was with the defendant, but this later changed. Tr. 1062. Kesinger testified that the defendant asked her to lie and provide an alibis for him. Tr. 1098.

Detective Meacham returned to the stand and testified that the defendant,

Cole and Wade were seen on Walmart video surveillance at different times buying
the equipment needed to subdue the victims and bury the bodies. These receipts
were found in the South Carolina hotel room. Tr. 925-927.

Robert Bailey testified that he shared a cell with the defendant and that the defendant said that a toy gun was used in the robbery and that the victims were bound and put into the back of the victims' car. Tr. 1123. The graves were pre-dug by Nixon and Wade. Tr. 1124. One of the co-defendants extracted the ATM pin code from the victims and then the defendant used the ATM card. Tr. 1125. The defendant told Bailey that he used a shovel to help bury the couple, and that the woman was alive because he heard her cough. Tr. 1126.

Co-defendant Bruce Nixon testified that he participated in the murder of the Sumners, along with the defendant, Cole and Wade. Tr. 1154. Nixon said that he, the defendant and Wade pre-dug the grave sight in advance of the murders. Tr. 1158. Cole was holding a flashlight for them. Tr. 1160.

The robbery was planned by them and as to what would happen to the Sumners, the defendant said he would take care of it. The defendant said he was going to give them a shot of medicine to make them die. Tr. 1162-63. The group bought gloves, duct tape and plastic wrap to carry out the crimes, and obtained a toy gun. The defendant was the one that called the shots during the planning process. Tr. 1164-65.

Nixon said that he and Wade went into the Sumner's home and bound the Sumners with duct tape and put duct tape over their eyes and mouth. Tr. 1169-72, 1175. Subsequently, the defendant entered the home and started searching for bank statements and ATM cards. Tr. 1173.

The Sumners were put in the trunk of their car and driven to the grave sight.

Tr. 1178-79. Nixon walked away from the grave sight and left the defendant and

Wade their with the Sumners. Tr. 1183. The defendant said that he got the PIN

number for the ATM card from them and the defendant controlled the ATM card.

Tr. 1231. The defendant was the one with the plan and he was confident about it.

Tr. 1233. Nixon eventually led police to the burial site. Tr. 1195.

Dr. Anthony Clark testified as to how the Sumners died. There were no head injuries or signs of blunt force trauma. Tr. 1266-67. The Sumners had dirt in their noses and in their mouths. Tr. 1266, 1270. They were smothered with dirt. Tr. 1273. They both died from mechanical obstruction of the airways from dirt, and the manner of death was homicide. Tr. 1274, 1295. There was no dirt in the lungs. Tr. 1294.

At the close of the State's case, the defense moved for a judgment of acquittal, and did not make any argument in support of the motion. The trial court denied the motion. Tr. 1304.

The defense did put on a case. Alex Griffis said that he was at a party with Bruce Nixon and Nixon said that he had buried people alive and killed them. Tr. 1320-22. Nixon never said that anyone helped him. Tr. 1323. Thomas Ackridge was at the same party and heard Nixon say the same thing. Tr. 1331.

The defendant testified that the plan was only to rob the Sumners. Tr. 1370-74. No one talked about killing anyone. Tr. 1376. Wade and Nixon went into the home while the defendant and Cole were outside. Wade and Nixon then drove off

in the Sumners car and the defendant did not know they were in the trunk. The defendant was told to follow them. Tr. 1378-79.

The defendant and Cole followed them up into Georgia. Wade and Nixon told them where to park and the defendant asked what they were doing.

Subsequently, they called the defendant and told him to bring a flashlight over to where they were. Tr. 1381-82.

The defendant thought they were ditching the car, but when he walked up he heard Mrs. Sumner moan. The defendant was shocked and asked them what they were doing. The defendant walked back to where Cole was and he let Wade and Nixon continue what they were doing. Tr. 1381-83. The defendant admitted to calling the sheriff's office and impersonating Mr. Sumner. Tr. 1389. The defendant testified that he did not kidnap anyone and that he did not kill anyone. Tr. 1394.

The defense then rested. Tr. 1454. The motion for judgment of acquittal was renewed, without argument, and the trial court denied the motion. Tr. 1543-44. The jury was given an independent act instruction. Tr. 1455-56. The jury returned verdicts of guilt as charged on all six counts. Tr. 1596-97.

#### PENALTY PHASE

The defendant said that he spoke to his attorneys about the issue and that he was making the decision not to offer any mitigating evidence. He said he wants the jury to base its sentencing recommendation on the facts that came out at trial. Tr. 1613-14. The trial court said that the jury will hear about aggravating factors, but not any mitigating factors. The defendant said that his people could not benefit him. Tr. 1614-15.

The trial court cautioned the defendant that he will "cut off any leg" that he may have of the jury recommending a life sentence. The defendant said that evidence of mitigation will not help him. Tr. 1615-16. Defense counsel then proffered what evidence they were prepared to present as evidence of mitigation. Tr. 1616-22. The defendant said that he discussed all of this potential mitigation with his lawyers and he is satisfied with their representation. Tr. 1622-23.

The trial court told the defendant that he strongly recommends that the defendant put on evidence of mitigation. Tr. 1626. The defendant replied that he was sure that this was what he wanted to do. Tr. 1627. The trial court said that he will respect the defendant's decision and the trial court found that the decision was freely and voluntarily made and that he has been well-informed by counsel of the potential ramifications. Tr. 1627.

The defense did not put on any evidence during the penalty phase and the jury returned an advisory recommendation of death by a vote of 8 to 4, for both victims. Tr. 1685.

#### **SPENCER HEARING AND SENTENCING**

The *Spencer* hearing started on June 18, 2007. The defendant testified that what happened was a tragedy, but he did not plan or participate in any kidnapping or murder. The defendant told the victims that he was sorry for their loss, but that he cannot show remorse for something he did not do. Tr. 1722-23.

Defense counsel stated that the defendant has instructed them not to put on any evidence of mitigation. Tr. 1727. The trial court inquired with the defendant about his reasons for not doing this. The trial court said he was making a serious mistake by not doing this. The defendant said that he was absolutely certain that he did not want to present any evidence of mitigation. Tr. 1727-34.

The hearing was continued until August 7, 2007. The trial court gave the defendant another opportunity to present mitigation and defense counsel stated that the defendant had not changed his mind on the issue. Tr. 1762-63. The hearing was

continued until August 13, 2007. The defendant again declined to present any mitigation. Tr. 1764-65.

The imposition of sentence took place on August 29, 2007. The trial court imposed a sentence of death. Tr. 1808. The trial court found the following aggravating factors:

- 1. The defendant was previously convicted of a felony and was on probation at the time of the murders.
- 2. The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony. This was established because the murders occurred contemporaneously.
- 3. The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while the defendant was engaged in the crime of kidnapping.
- 4. The crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. This was established because the Sumners were frail, in failing health, and were gagged and buried alive. The Court said it has a hard time coming up with a more painful and vile manner of death.
- 5. The crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. This was established because there was virtually no evidence which would even remotely indicate a pretense of moral or legal justification. The defendant also possessed heightened premeditation

by buying the equipment necessary to commit the crimes and having the graves dug in advance.

- 6. The crime was committed for financial gain. The defendant admitted that the original reason for the crimes was money.
- 7. The crime was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. The Sumners knew at least two of their killers and they were buried where no one would discover them. The surrounding circumstances lead to no other inference than the Sumners' deaths were to enable the defendant to avoid detection.
- 8. The victims were particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability. The fact that the Sumners were 60 and 61 years-old respectively, coupled with their extensive physical and medical disabilities, establishes this factor.

[R. 250-254].

The trial court considered evidence of mitigation, even though the defendant failed to present this evidence during the penalty phase. The trial court noted that it still gleaned mitigating evidence from the trial, the presentence investigation, letters in support of the defendant, and argument of counsel:

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