IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL JACKSON

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-2008

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a judgment of acquittal because the State failed to overcome his reasonable hypothesis of innocence, in particular, his claim the murder of Reggie and Carol Sumner were the independent acts of his co-defendants. This claim may be denied for two reasons. First, the issue was not preserved because trial counsel made a bare bones motion for a judgment of acquittal. Second, this claim should be denied because there is competent, substantial evidence to support the jury's verdicts.

ISSUE II: In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in failing to suppress evidence found in a locked safe inside Jackson's motel room. Jackson does not dispute the police had a valid warrant to search Jackson's motel room. Likewise, Jackson does not dispute the warrant permitted the police to search for items that reasonably could have been secreted in the motel room

safe. Instead, Jackson claims only that a second warrant was required to open the safe. Jackson is mistaken.

The South Carolina police had a valid search warrant to search Jackson's motel room. The law is well established that, if officers have a valid warrant to search fixed premises, the police may search any area or container that could reasonably contain objects of the search. No second warrant is required.

Even if a second warrant was required, the items would have been inevitably discovered after the defendants had been arrested and the motel room returned to the control of motel management staff. Should this Court find, however, that the trial court erred in denying Jackson's motion to suppress; any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE III: In this claim, Jackson avers the trial judge erred in failing to suppress recorded jailhouse conversations between Jackson and his grandmother. Jackson claims South Carolina jail officials violated South Carolina law when they turned over the taped telephone calls to officers from the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. Jackson also claims the interception of his jailhouse telephone conversation violated his Fourth Amendment right against unreasonable search and seizure.

Jackson's claim should be denied for three reasons. First, Jackson failed to properly preserve the issue for appeal. Second, Jackson cannot show that jail officials violated South Carolina law by recording Jackson's jailhouse telephone conversations and turning them over to Florida law enforcement officers. Third, Jackson can show no Fourth Amendment violation because Jackson had no legitimate expectation of privacy in his telephone conversations he knew were being recorded and monitored.

ISSUE IV: In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in admitting evidence that Jackson solicited an inmate to assist him in escaping from the Duval County jail. This Court has consistently held that an attempt to flee from prosecution is admissible as long as there is a nexus between the flight and the crime for which the defendant is being tried. At the time Jackson was planning his escape, Jackson had been indicted for the murders of Reggie and Carol Sumner and was in the Duval County jail awaiting trial. Pursuant to well-established case law from this Court, evidence of Jackson's escape plan was relevant to show Jackson's consciousness of guilt.

ISSUE V: In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in permitting the state to introduce the hearsay statements of a non-testifying co-defendant, Tiffany Cole, in violation of Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). The statements at issue were heard by the jury during a taped statement taken from the defendant. In the statement, on four occasions, police

officers from the Jacksonville Sheriff's office confronted Jackson with statements that Tiffany Cole allegedly told the police. Jackson admitted that what Tiffany Cole said was true.

This claim may be denied because Tiffany Cole's statements were not admitted as substantive evidence against Jackson. The jury was told that any statements of the detectives during the taped statement were only to be considered in terms of their effect on the defendant. Moreover, any error in admitting the statement was harmless when Jackson admitted, both in his taped statement, and at trial, that each of Tiffany Cole's allegations were true.

<u>ISSUE VI</u>: In this claim, Jackson alleges a violation of Muhammad v. State, 782 So.2d 343 (Fla. 2001). This case is distinguishable from Muhammad. During the guilt phase, Jackson put on evidence that could have been considered in mitigation by the jury. Likewise, trial counsel argued this same mitigating evidence during penalty phase closing arguments. Finally, nothing in the trial judge's sentencing order provides support for Jackson's claim the trial judge put undue influence on the jury's recommendation.

ISSUE VII: In this claim, Jackson alleges that this Court's comparative proportionality review of death sentences is unconstitutional. This Court has recently rejected this same

argument in <u>Hunter v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S 745 (Fla. Sep. 25, 2008).

ISSUE VIII: In this claim, Jackson presents no persuasive argument to support his allegation his sentence of death is disproportionate. Instead, Jackson makes a general plea for mercy on the grounds he was only 23 years old at the time of the murder, was born to a substance abusing mother, was abandoned by his parents and raised by his grandmother, and was a problem child in elementary school. Well-established case law from this court demonstrates Jackson's sentence of death is proportionate.

In this claim, Jackson makes various allegations in ISSUE IX: support of his argument his sentence to death is unconstitutional pursuant to the dictates of Ring v. Arizona, its progeny. 536 U.S. 584 (2002) and This Court has consistently rejected each of the arguments Jackson raises in this claim. Accordingly, Jackson is entitled to no relief on this claim.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE STATE PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT JACKSON WAS GUILTY OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, ROBBERY, AND KIDNAPPING.

In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in denying Jackson's motion for a judgment of acquittal. (IB 19).

Jackson alleges the State failed to overcome the defense's

evidence that the defendant only planned and agreed to commit a robbery and the subsequent kidnapping and murder of the Sumners by his co-defendants constituted an independent act for which he is not responsible. (IB 20).

The standard of review is *de novo*. <u>McDuffie v. State</u>, 970 So. 2d 312, 332 (Fla. 2007). In conducting its review, this Court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in a light most favorable to the State. Id.

Ordinarily, a trial court properly denies a motion for judgment of acquittal if the conviction is supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>Baugh v. State</u>, 961 So. 2d 198, 204 (Fla. 2007). There is sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Banks v. State, 732 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1999).

In a case consisting entirely of circumstantial evidence, however, a motion for judgment of acquittal should be granted if the State fails to present evidence from which the jury can exclude every reasonable hypothesis except that of guilt. Orme

⁶ Direct evidence is that to which the witness testifies of his own knowledge as to the facts at issue. Circumstantial evidence is proof of certain facts and circumstances from which the trier of fact may infer that the ultimate facts in dispute existed or did not exist. Davis v. State, 90 So. 2d 629, 631 (Fla. 1956).

<u>v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 258, 262 (Fla. 1996). In meeting its burden, the State is not required to "rebut conclusively, every possible variation of events" which could be inferred from the evidence, but must introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events. <u>Darling v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 145, 155-156 (Fla. 2002). Once the State meets this threshold burden, it becomes the jury's duty to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

While Jackson does not cite to any supporting case law, Jackson claims a judgment of acquittal should have been granted because the defendant had a reasonable hypothesis of innocence (independent act) that the State did not overcome. (IB 20). Accordingly, without directly saying so, Jackson seems to be arguing that this case is entirely circumstantial. Contrary to Jackson's contention, this is <u>not</u> a circumstantial evidence case.

In this case, the State presented the eyewitness testimony of Bruce Nixon. Nixon testified that Jackson planned and, along with Alan Wade, Tiffany Cole, and Bruce Nixon executed the robbery, kidnapping and murders of Carol and Reggie Sumner. A case is not entirely circumstantial when there is an eyewitness to the murder. Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95, 95 (Fla. 1995).

See also Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 506 (Fla. 2005) (noting that the special standard of review applicable to circumstantial evidence cases did not apply because the State presented direct evidence in the form of eyewitness testimony.").

Given that this is a case in which the State presented direct evidence that Jackson, along with three others, robbed, kidnapped, then murdered Reggie and Carol Sumner by burying them alive, this Court does not have to determine whether the State introduced evidence from which the jury can exclude every reasonable hypothesis except that of guilt. Instead, the sole determination this Court must make is whether there was competent, substantial evidence for the jury to make such a determination. See Darling, 808 So. 2d at 156.

This claim may be denied for two reasons. First, the claim was not preserved for appeal. While defense counsel made a motion for a judgment of acquittal at the end of the State's case-in-chief and again after the defense rested, Jackson presented no argument in support of his motion. (TR Vol. X 1304, XI 1543-1544).

After the State rested its case, trial counsel made his initial motion stating "At this time we make our Motion for Judgment of Acquittal, Your Honor, and I do so without additional argument." (TR Vol. X 1304). At the conclusion of

the defense case-in-chief, trial counsel renewed his motion for a judgment of acquittal. Trial counsel told the court, "We talked earlier and I didn't actually put in on the record my renewing my Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. Just renew it without argument." (TR Vol. XI 1543-1544).

This claim is not preserved for appeal because Jackson made a bare bones motion for a judgment of acquittal. Certainly, he did not allege the State had failed to overcome Jackson's evidence that the murder and kidnapping were the independent acts of his co-defendants.

This Court has held that in order to preserve this issue for appeal, more than a mere boilerplate motion must be presented to the trial court. Indeed, this Court has held on many occasions that to preserve an argument for appeal, it must be asserted as the legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 753 (Fla. 2001). See also Archer v. State, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993) (ruling that Archer's claim, that the trial judge should have granted a JOA because the victim's murder was independent of the agreed-upon plan, was not preserved for appeal because Archer did not make the same argument to the trial court in his motion for a judgment of acquittal); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Jackson's bare bones motion did not preserve this issue for appeal.

While, Jackson's first issue on appeal is not preserved, this Court may also deny the claim on the merits. Bruce Nixon's testimony, standing alone provides competent substantial evidence to sustain the jury's verdict. However, as set forth in the State's statement of the facts, the State introduced ample additional evidence of Jackson's guilt. Given there is competent, substantial evidence to support the jury's verdicts of guilt, this claim should be denied.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING JACKSON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS ITEMS FOUND IN A SAFE INSIDE JACKSON'S MOTEL ROOM.

In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress items found in a safe inside Jackson's motel room. The safe was one installed and maintained by the motel for use by guests while occupying a motel room.

Inside the motel safe, the police found Reggie Sumner's identification and the Sumners' credit cards and checkbook. (TR Vol. VII 693). Other items belonging to the Sumners were found in the motel room, itself, including paperwork, mail, billing statements, and personal effects that had the Sumner's name on it. (TR Vol. VII 690). The police also found various purchases that Jackson made with the Sumners' money, including a watch, jewels, electronics, sports jerseys and hats. (TR Vol. VII 691-695).

The police found a coin collection belonging to the Sumners in the trunk of Tiffany Cole's car. (TR Vol. VII 692). An A.T.M. card from the Sumners' credit union, Heritage Trust, was found in Jackson's pocket. (TR Vol. VII 688). The car keys to the Sumners' car were found in Alan Wade's room. (TR Vol. VII 692).

Jackson raised this same claim below. On April 30, 2007, Jackson filed a motion to suppress evidence seized from Jackson's motel room safe. (TR Vol. I 90-92). Jackson did not challenge the search and seizure of items found in his motel room. Instead, Jackson claimed only that a second warrant was required to open the safe. Jackson averred the search was unlawful because a second warrant was not obtained. (TR Vol. I 90-92).

The trial court held a hearing on the motion. During the hearing, the trial court observed that the warrant specified objects that one would reasonably think would be in a safe such as checkbooks, I.D. card, A.T.M. receipts, documents, and sales receipts. (TR Vol. V 393). Jackson did not dispute this factual finding.

The court read a portion of the search warrant into the record. The warrant permitted police to search for items such as any and all checkbooks, identification cards, bank statements, bank registers or other documents or papers in any

way related to James Reginald Sumner or Carol Sumner. (TR Vol. V 393). The court went on reading, noting the warrant also allowed for the search of any and all documentation bearing the names of the defendants, any and all A.T.M. receipts, sales receipts, transaction records related to the Heritage Trust A.T.M. card, weapons or instruments that may be used as a weapon, duct tape, or any material that can be used to bind a person or persons. (TR Vol. V 393).

The State argued that the warrant to search the motel room was sufficient to allow the police to search the safe. Alternatively, the State argued the evidence would be admissible, in any event, because the contents of the safe would have been inevitably discovered after the defendants had all been arrested and the rental period for Jackson's motel room had expired. (TR Vol. V 395). The trial court denied Jackson's motion to suppress. (TR Vol. VI 406-407).

Before this Court, Jackson does not deny the police had a valid warrant to search his motel room. Likewise, Jackson does not deny the items found in the safe were items fairly described by the warrant and which reasonably could have been found in the safe.

Instead, Jackson claims the search warrant only authorized police to search the room. Jackson avers the search of his

motel room safe was unlawful because a separate warrant was required to search the locked safe. (IB 21).

This Court may deny this claim for three reasons. First, Jackson offers no authority for the notion a second warrant was required. Indeed, the only case law cited by Jackson, a case from the Second District Court of Appeal, State v. Ridgway, 718 So.2d 318, 319-320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) supports a conclusion the search warrant in this case authorized the police to search Jackson's entire room, including the motel room safe. (IB 21).

In <u>Ridgway</u>, the police developed probable cause to believe Mr. Ridgway was selling methamphetamine from his mobile home. The police also suspected Ridgway had engaged in sexual misconduct with a 15-year-old girl. This latter suspicion did not rise to the level of probable cause.

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